
 
 
 
A Meeting of the COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held 
virtually on MONDAY 29 MARCH 2021 AT 7.00 PM 
 
 

 
Susan Parsonage 
Chief Executive 
Published on 19 March 2021 
 
 

The role of Overview and Scrutiny is to provide independent “critical friend” 
challenge and to work with the Council’s Executive and other public service 
providers for the benefit of the public.  The Committee considers submissions 
from a range of sources and reaches conclusions based on the weight of 
evidence – not on party political grounds. 
 
This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s website. 
 
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the Coronavirus Act 2020 
to hold this meeting virtually via Microsoft Teams. The meeting can be 
watched live using the following link: https://youtu.be/73O9KAxSB7  
 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this 
meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is not under the Council’s 
control. 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/73O9KAxSB7


 
 

Our Vision 
 

A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business 

 

 
Enriching Lives 

 Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full 
potential, regardless of their background.  

 Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to 
complement an active lifestyle.  

 Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which 
people feel part of.  

 Support growth in our local economy and help to build business. 

Safe, Strong, Communities 

 Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people. 

 Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.  

 Nurture communities and help them to thrive. 

 Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.  

A Clean and Green Borough 

 Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.  

 Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas. 

 Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling. 

 Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.  

Right Homes, Right Places 

 Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.  

 Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to 
grow.  

 Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.  

 Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.  

Keeping the Borough Moving 

 Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.  

 Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.  

 Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure. 

 Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible 
public transport with good network links.  

Changing the Way We Work for You 

 Be relentlessly customer focussed. 

 Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around 
you.  

 Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately 
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.  

 Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and 
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.  

 



 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 
Councillors  

Guy Grandison (Chairman) Emma Hobbs (Vice-
Chairman) 

Shirley Boyt 

Paul Fishwick Graham Howe Clive Jones 
Abdul Loyes Alison Swaddle  

 
Substitutes 

Andy Croy Carl Doran Pauline Helliar-Symons 
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey Chris Bowring Caroline Smith 
Michael Firmager Ken Miall Malcolm Richards 

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

WARD SUBJECT 
PAGE 
NO. 

    
80.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

    
81.    MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 
2021 and the Minutes of the extraordinary meeting held 
on 22 February 2021. 

5 - 22 

    
82.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

    
83.    PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

To answer any public questions 
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of the 
public to ask questions submitted under notice.  
 
The Council welcomes questions from members of the 
public about the work of this committee. 
 
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can 
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the 
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this 
meeting.  For full details of the procedure for submitting 
questions please contact the Democratic Services 
Section on the numbers given below or go to 
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions 

 

    
84.    MEMBER QUESTION TIME 

To answer any member questions. 
 

    
85.   None Specific LOCAL FIRE SERVICE UPDATE 

To consider an update from the Local Fire Service 
23 - 24 

   

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions


 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any other 
items to consider under this heading 

 

 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 
Callum Wernham Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist 
  
Email democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 



 

 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE  
COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 19 JANUARY 2021 FROM 7.00 PM TO 8.50 PM 
 
Committee Members Present 
Councillors:  Guy Grandison (Chairman), Shirley Boyt, Paul Fishwick, Graham Howe, 
Clive Jones, Abdul Loyes and Alison Swaddle 
 
Officers Present 
Nigel Bailey (Interim Assistant Director - Housing & Place Commissioning), Neil Carr 
(Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist), Andrew Moulton (Assistant Director - 
Governance) and Callum Wernham (Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist) 
 
63. APOLOGIES  
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Emma Hobbs. 
 
64. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 23 November 2020 and the Minutes 
of the extraordinary meeting held on 22 December 2020 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman, subject to the following amendments: 
 
22 December 2020, agenda page 26 – “Relating to the housing and regeneration bids, the 
bid sheets contained a lack of detail.” These be amended to the following; “Relating to the 
housing and regeneration bids, the bid sheets were devoid of detail”. 
 
22 December 2020, agenda page 26 – The following text be added; “It was noted that 
both the Committee and Service were very proud of all workers who had maintained 
services such as weekly waste collection during the pandemic.” 
 
A number of Members commented that they wanted more positive comments to be 
included within the Minutes. It was suggested that Members verbally ask within the 
meeting for specific comments or queries to be included within the minutes. 
 
65. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
66. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
There were no public questions. 
 
67. MEMBER QUESTION TIME  
There were no Member questions. 
 
68. BURIAL CAPACITY - UPDATE JANUARY 2021  
The Committee received a report, set out in agenda pages 29 to 32, which gave an 
updated position with regards to burial ground capacity within the Wokingham Borough, 
and details related to the proposed crematorium. 
 
The report outlined that when the previous update had come to the Committee there had 
been concern over the provision of burial plots within the Borough. Since then, further 
research had been undertaken which identified approximately 1000 vacant plots, spread 
between both Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) and other sites. The current provision 
of vacant burial plots should provide for between 17 and 20 years of capacity based on 

5

Agenda Item 81.



 

 
 

current demands. The report added that a trend of increasing number of cremations had 
been seen within the Borough. There were a number of potential burial ground expansions 
planned, including the site owned by Earley Town Council at May’s Lane. Relating to the 
proposed crematorium, a market appraisal would be undertaken in February 2021, and 
this would include the unique selling point that the site would offer. The report outlined that 
the proposed crematorium would look to offer environmentally friendly service, including 
possible woodland burials. 
 
Nigel Bailey, Interim Assistant Director - Housing & Place Commissioning, attended the 
meeting to answer Member queries. 
 
During the ensuing discussions, Members raised the following points and queries: 
 

 What was the approximate amount of current vacant plots at WBC owned sites? 
Officer response – Approximately 500 plots were vacant across WBC sites. 
  

 How would the proposed crematorium promote environmentally friendly services when 
harmful emissions were released from coffins when cremated? Officer response – This 
was part of the unique selling point that was to be determined for this site. The site 
would look to operate as environmentally friendly as possible. Different ways of 
achieving this could include having no gas fires on site, and promoting coffins which 
did not release harmful pollutants into the environment when burnt. It was crucial that if 
this site was to be developed, then it needed to be done properly which necessitated 
thorough research and planning. Members asked that an update relating to the 
proposed crematorium return to the Committee when further research had been 
completed. 

 

 It was noted that approximately 400 new burial plots and 1400 new cremation plots 
would be provided in the Earley Town Council site, with work hopefully starting in the 
next couple of months. 

 

 Where were woodland burials proposed to take place? Officer response – The 
intention was to link a woodland burial site to the proposed crematorium. The location 
of either site was yet to be determined, however the sites needed to be well located 
and accessible. 

 

 Where was there provision for Jewish burials within Berkshire? Officer response – At 
present, there was no specific demand for this service within Wokingham. Officers 
would investigate where there was provision within Berkshire and provide an answer. 

 

 The Committee welcomed that when WBC was approached by a family whose father 
was of the Baha’i faith, a special area was provided within the St Sebastian’s site for 
burials of the Baha’i faith to take place. 

 

 The Committee noted that with approximately 5% of people who have passed away 
within the Borough in the last year choosing a burial, it was looking likely that there 
may be demand for the proposed crematorium. Officer commented that significantly 
increased death rates had thankfully not yet been realised within the Borough as a 
result of Covid-19, and this was the general trend across Berkshire. There did appear 
to be an ongoing trend of increased cremations, and more information relating to this 
would be available in February. 

 

6



 

 
 

 Members noted that livestreaming capabilities for cremations could account for some 
of the increases seen this past year. Officers agreed that this could be one possible 
reason for the increases seen. 

 

 The Committee thanked WBC officers, and staff across all burial sites within the 
Borough for their assistance in providing a clearer picture relating to burial provision 
across the Borough. Many, if not all, of the concerns originally raised by the 
Committee had been mitigated, and the Committee praised all involved for doing a 
sterling job. The Committee identified this as an example of Overview & Scrutiny 
working particularly well. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) Nigel Bailey be thanked for attending the Committee;  

  
2) Information be provided to the Committee regarding where Jewish burial provision was 

located within Berkshire; 
  

3) Updated information relating to the proposed crematorium return to the Committee 
when further investigatory works had been carried out; 
  

4) WBC officers and staff across all burial sites within the Borough be thanked for their 
assistance in providing a clearer picture relating to burial provision across the 
Borough. 

 
69. UPDATE ON SHARED INTERNAL AUDIT & INVESTIGATION SERVICE  
The committee received a received a report, set out in agenda pages 33 to 66, which 
provided background to the Shared Internal Audit & Investigation Service. 
 
The report outlined that this was the first shared service that Overview & Scrutiny had 
considered. The service had been operational for 7 years since 2014, and was a shared 
service between Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) and the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead (RBWM). At the time of the service’s inception, both Authorities had 
internal Audit & Investigation services. Both services had suffered from being small and 
hard to recruit to due to the specialised nature of their work. Moving towards a shared 
service model had provided resilience for both Authorities, in addition to a wider pool of 
resources. It had been hoped to bring in other Authorities into the shared service, however 
the immediate drive was to provide resilience and other operational benefits. The Shared 
Service has undertaken regular contracted work for neighbouring Authorities. 
 
Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director – Governance, attended the meeting to answer 
Member queries. 
 
During the ensuing discussions, Members realised the following points and queries: 
 

 Was there a particular reason as to why other Local Authorities had not joined the 
Shared Service? Officer response - A number of lengthy discussions had taken place 
with our Berkshire neighbours over time, and there had been a variety of reasons as to 
why no other Authorities had joined the Shared Service to date. Opportunities were 
still being explored, and officers had not counted out the prospect of further Authorities 
joining the Shared Service. 
  

7



 

 
 

 Did WBC make money from contracted work? Officer response – Yes, these works 
generated an income stream for WBC. 

 

 Did the Shared Service work efficiently? Officer response – The team as a whole was 
very focussed on delivering a great service with good value for the Borough. This was 
a Council run service, however there was a commercial mind-set within the work that 
was carried out. In addition, the service was accountable to both WBC and RBWM 
Audit Committees, and any efficiency concerns would be considered by Members via 
these forums. 

 

 There were some concerns relating to how costs of other Shared Services were 
distributed amongst partners. Was this a concern for this particular Shared Service? 
Officer response – Officers were aware of these concerns, however in this case all 
costs and distributions were fairly transparent, and the Shared Service had met its 
core principles of providing operational efficiencies and resilience within the service. 

 

 It was noted that at the time of inception of the Shared Service, the responsibilities of 
the service were different. For example, the service was no longer responsible for 
benefit fraud. 

 

 The Committee thanked officers for providing the original business case, as this was 
useful background information for the Committee to consider. 

 

 Which Local Authorities had Wokingham carried out contracted works for? Officer 
response – WBC had provided support for the Bracknell Audit team for a number of 
years to ensure that they could complete their project plan. Support was also given to 
Rushmoor Council for a smaller number of days, however the total number of days 
was steadily growing. The unique selling point for the Shared Service was that it was 
run by a Local Authority, and could therefore relate to day to day issues. 

 

 Had the Shared Service looked at attracting other non-Berkshire authorities into the 
Shared Service? Officer response – Yes, any leads were pursued relating to this. A lot 
of thinking had to be undertaken as to how to best use the service’s pool of resources. 
The Covid-19 pandemic had shown that internal audit could be carried out virtually, 
and this had therefore opened up possible options within a wider geographical area. 

 

 Did the service actively look for business or wait for contact to be made? Officer 
response – Both avenues were used in this regard. Initially, more active methods were 
pursued, whereas now a slightly more passive and opportunistic approach was taken. 
There were no staff dedicated to marketing or business development within the 
Shared Service. 

 

 Relating to agenda page 35, what did LGAN refer to? Officer response – This 
information sought would be circulated to Members after the meeting. 

 

 The Committee stated that the risk register would be useful for the Committee to 
consider, as an example of the work carried out by the service. In addition, it would be 
useful for the Committee to see some examples of the external work carried out, which 
provided both an income stream for WBC and exposing the service and its staff to new 
tasks and skillsets. It was requested that the Head of Audit attend a future Committee 
meeting to provide some real life examples of different works carried out, in addition to 

8



 

 
 

explaining some of the differences between how the Shared Service operates 
compared to having a solely in-house service. 

 

 The Committee was of the opinion that the Shared Internal Audit & Investigation 
Service had always been a good example of good practice. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) Andrew Moulton be thanked for attending the Committee; 

  
2) The acronym LGAN be expanded and circulated to the Committee; 

  
3) The Head of Audit be invited to a future meeting of the Committee to provide some 

real life examples of different types of works carried out by the service, in addition to 
explaining some of the differences between how the Shared Service operates 
compared to having a solely in-house service. 

 
70. COSC REPORT ON THE DRAFT MTFP  
The Committee received a report, set out in agenda pages 67 to 78, which sought 
suggestions to be included within the Committee’s annual report on their overview of the 
draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). For reference, the report from the previous 
municipal year was also included. 
 
Callum Wernham, Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist, attended the meeting to 
answer Member queries. 
 
During the ensuing discussions, Members raised the following points and queries: 
 

 The Committee felt that the process of overviewing and scrutinising the draft MTFP 
had gone well this year, and much had been learnt from the first year of this process 
which was carried out during the 2019/20 municipal year. Officers had answered 
Member questions and queries in a professional manner, and where answers could 
not be provided on the evening they had then been circulated as agreed in due 
course. 
  

 The Committee were of the opinion that Executive Members and Directors had been 
very helpful and approachable during Committee meetings. 

 

 The Committee felt that a substantial amount of work had been conducted over this 
municipal year, and thanked all those who made this happen. 

 

 A number of Members were of the opinion that holding the meetings virtually this 
municipal year had assisted the Committee. Presentations were easier to follow, and 
documentation was available in one place which was easy to reference. 

 

 Members were of the opinion that it was very useful to be able to have these 
discussions in a public forum. 

 

 It was noted that there had been some formatting errors and consistency changes of 
templates from last year’s review. Members hoped that these issues would be 
addressed and improved going forwards. 

 

9



 

 
 

 Members were of the opinion that the overall process had come a long way in just 12 
months, and thanked all of those who had helped to bring forward these 
improvements. 

 

 The Chairman commented that so long as he was Chairman of the Committee, he 
would continue to pursue an annual overview of the draft MTFP. 

 

 The Committee commented that it had been very impressed that a full overview of the 
draft MTFP had been carried out despite huge pressures on Council services and 
staff.  

 

 The Committee noted that the financial position of the Council was now far more 
certain than it had been at the start of this year’s review, and that this was a testament 
to all those involved within both the budget setting process and the overview and 
scrutiny of it. 

 

 The Committee wished to extend their specific thanks to Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief 
Executive) and John Kaiser (Executive Member for Finance and Housing) for their 
hard work and attendance both behind the scenes and at every Committee session 
relating to the draft MTFP. 

 

 The Committee wished to thank all Members and officers who had made this year’s 
overview of the draft MTFP possible, including all improvements made from the 
inaugural budget review during the 2019/20 municipal year. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) Callum Wernham be thanked for attending the Committee;  

  
2) Comments made by Committee Members be included within the Committee’s report;  

  
3) Officers be delegated to draft the Committee’s report, which is to be agreed in 

conjunction with the Chairman;  
  

4) Members contact officers with any additional points for inclusion within their report; 
  

5) Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief Executive) and John Kaiser (Executive Member for 
Finance and Housing) be thanked for their hard work and attendance both behind the 
scenes and at every Committee session relating to the draft MTFP;  
  

6) All Members and officers who had made this year’s overview of the draft MTFP 
possible be thanked, including for all improvements made from the inaugural budget 
review during the 2019/20 municipal year. 

 
71. WORK PROGRAMME  
The Committee considered their work programme for upcoming meetings, set out in 
agenda pages 79 to 80. 
 
The Committee confirmed an extraordinary meeting to be scheduled on 22 February 2021. 
 
Members asked whether the emerging Arts & Culture Strategy could come to Committee 
in March. It was confirmed that as things stood, the March meeting would fall into Purdah. 

10



 

 
 

Officers would investigate options to take this strategy to an appropriate meeting of the 
Committee. 
 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) The work programme be noted;  

  
2) The extraordinary meeting due to be held on 22 February 2021 be confirmed; 

  
3) Officers investigate options to take the emerging Arts & Culture Strategy to an 

appropriate meeting of the Committee. 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE  
COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

HELD ON 22 FEBRUARY 2021 FROM 7.15 PM TO 10.08 PM 
 
Committee Members Present 
Councillors:  Guy Grandison (Chairman), Shirley Boyt, Paul Fishwick, Graham Howe, 
Clive Jones, Abdul Loyes and Alison Swaddle 
 
Other Councillors Present 
Councillors: Parry Batth, Gary Cowan and Charlotte Haitham Taylor  
 
Officers Present 
Callum Wernham (Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist), Francesca Hobson 
(Service Manager  – Community, Heritage, Green & Blue Infrastructure), Anne Hunter 
(Lead Specialist - Democratic and Electoral Services), Andrew Moulton (Assistant Director 
- Governance) and Grant Thornton (Senior Specialist Economic Prosperity & Place) 
 
72. APOLOGIES  
An apology for absence was submitted from Emma Hobbs. 
 
73. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
A declaration of interest was submitted from Shirley Boyt in relation to agenda item 77, on 
the grounds that she was a Member of the Working Group that worked on this strategy. 
Shirley stated that she would take no part in the discussions or voting for this item. 
 
74. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
There were no public questions. 
. 
 
75. MEMBER QUESTION TIME  
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chairman invited Members to submit 
questions to the appropriate Members. 
 
75.1 Gary Cowan asked the Chairman of the Community and Corporate Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee the following question:  
Question 
The agenda states that and I quote "During the financial year 2020/21, the Flooding and 
Drainage team made further progress in fulfilling Wokingham Borough Council’s (WBC) 
statutory obligations as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) under the Flood and Water 
Management Act (FWMA) 2010. The primary responsibility as an LLFA is to manage the 
coordination of surface water and groundwater flood risk in order to protect residents from 
flooding" 
 
My question is does surface and Ground water risk include reservoirs and Dams or 
Not or is that a different water that residents do not need protecting from?  
 
Answer 
The Lead Local Flood Authority is responsible for coordinating the response to surface 
water and groundwater flood risk. The Environment Agency is responsible for overseeing 
the management of reservoir flooding and for the management and implementation of 
reservoir safety regulations in England. They are also responsible for coordinating the 
management of fluvial (river) flooding. In regards to reservoirs and specifically dams 

13



 

 
 

etcetera as well, that actually comes under a separate act of parliament – the Reservoirs 
Act 1075, in which reservoirs, with you being in Arborfield the principle reservoir that you 
are probably asking about would be the ones in Bearwood Lakes, which are covered 
under that act. Essentially, it is the responsibility of the land owner to conduct a 10 year 
structural risk assessment under the Reservoirs Act, and then coordinate with the Local 
Authority as to any planning that needs to be done in order to mitigate any risk. I think that 
Bearwood is coming up in 2024 or 2025, and the reason why I know this is whilst I was on 
Earley Town Council we did research into the Maiden Erlegh Reservoir Lake, and that 
report was done a few years back. 
 
Supplementary Question 
You have studied the subject very well, well done. The problem I’ve got with it is, and I 
agree with pretty much everything that you say, is that although the Environment Agency 
might have dam responsibilities, we have a responsibility to our residents. The Council has 
granted planning permission to build 18 houses directly under the flood burst zone, and so 
there has to be a link between the Council having responsibility in planning terms and the 
local flood risk as the local flood authority. The question is although the Council never 
informed the Environment Agency of this planning application, there is a very grey area 
where planning applications turn up, so how does our planning and flood risk fit in with this 
broad principle? I don’t expect an answer now as it is fairly comprehensive. 
 
Supplementary Answer 
Indeed Gary, I may need to look to Francesca to take a stab at this. I agree with Gary that 
this is a grey area, and what makes it ‘greyer’ is that the ownership of the lakes has 
transferred as I believe that Reading Football Club now owns it. 
 
The planning application, the Environment Agency were consulted on and we would 
expect them to comment on fluvial and reservoir flooding. So they were consulted on the 
planning application and if they had any concerns about reservoir flooding they would have 
commented as such. But, the Environment Agency, as Guy has already said, is 
responsible for reservoir safety regulations and so they are responsible for making sure 
that the reservoir owners or regulators are ensuring that they have done all of the works 
necessary to make sure that they are safe so that they won’t breach and then cause 
flooding. The main point is that it really is a responsibility for the Environment Agency, and 
in relation to that planning application the Environment Agency were consulted. 
 
At this point, some further discussions were had about this topic. 
 
76. FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
The Committee considered a report, set out in agenda pages 5 to 10, which gave an 
update on flood risk management within the Borough. 
 
The report outlined 11 key areas whereby actions had been undertaken in the past twelve 
months. These actions included the completion of Surface Water Management Plan for 
Earley, emergency response to flooding and subsequent S19 incident reports, delivery of 
capital drainage schemes, and smart drainage trials. 
 
Parry Batth (Executive Member for Environment and Leisure) and Francesca Hobson 
(Service Manager – Community, Heritage, Green & Blue Infrastructure) attended the 
meeting to answer Member queries. 
 

14



 

 
 

During the ensuing discussions, Members and the invited expert guest raised the following 
points and queries: 
 

 The asset register was critical both for proposed developments and retrospective, as a 
lot of detail could be hidden in areas such as slight dips in the ground. 
  

 The NFM feature in Maiden Erlegh was brilliant and fundamental piece of work. There 
had been internal flooding further down that section of ditch towards the river. Was the 
modelling for the aforementioned feature inclusive of the reach down towards the 
river? Officer response – Officers were concerned that the culvert at Egremont Drive 
was acting as a bottleneck, meaning that although it was causing flooding at that 
location it could lead to other problems downstream should it be removed. Whilst the 
consultant was carrying out these works, Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) 
ensured that they included all of that information in the modelling to ensure that the 
removal of the culvert would not have any adverse impact downstream. The contractor 
monitors this site on a weekly basis, compared to a monthly check for other locations 
within the Borough. In addition, the contractor would proactively check the site in the 
event of heavy rain. 

 

 What support was in place for residents whose homes flooded? Officer response – 
WBC was working to set up dedicated support groups, in addition to working with flood 
action volunteers. WBC was aiming to be as proactive as possible in setting up flood 
resilience groups, with the Swallowfield flood resilience group being an excellent 
example. These measures were key, as flooding had a longer psychological impact on 
affected persons. 

 

 In planning terms, some developments did not get built in the order they were 
envisaged. How was this managed to avoid a situation where an asset was not exactly 
where it should be? Officer response – The team had expanded over the years from 
two officers to six officers. This gave additional capacity to monitor these sort of 
situations. Lots of residents reported such instances, and officers were sent out to 
investigate. 

 

 Could the programme of when each area would receive a surface water management 
plan be detailed, in addition to how each area was prioritised? Officer response – In 
terms of priorities, historical reports of flooding were used alongside the surface water 
flood risk maps and reports from residents. Currently, 1 surface water management 
plan was being developer per year, and this was based on a set amount of funding 
from Central Government. However, works were still carried out in other areas, for 
example this year a surface water flood risk management plan had been carried out in 
Earley in addition to a lot of capital works being carried out in other Borough locations. 

 

 The A329, specifically the roundabout section in Winnersh, had been flooded in 
February 2020. Was there a reason why this particular location had not been included 
within the investigations? Officer response – When the river backed up the gulleys and 
drainage system at the roundabout, flooding occurred. Therefore, investigation was 
not required as the issue was known. Officers wanted to deliver a scheme to prevent 
this issue from occurring, and were awaiting funding and liaison with stakeholders to 
do so. 

 

 Officers and contractors should be thanked for undertaking works to install all CCTV 
and drainage works and surveys across the Borough, during a year with lower road 

15



 

 
 

usage. There had been a noticeable decrease in flooding in a number of usual 
problem locations. 

 

 There had been instances of some gulleys not being emptied for some time in some 
locations. Officers were aware and were meeting with the relevant Members. 

 

 Could a couple of examples be provided regarding partnership working, and how it 
reduced flooding? Officer response – A particular focus was using SUDs to reduce 
flood risk, to move towards sustainable drainage systems in above ground locations, 
as these had additional benefits such as amenity value. 

 

 Would the Section 21 asset register include dams such as Bearwood Lakes, which 
would therefore be included within the Borough’s emergency plan? Officer response – 
None of the dams were formally recorded within the asset register, as they were 
recorded through the Reservoir Act via the Environment Agency. 

 

 When this item came to Committee in 2019, concerns were raised over residents 
paving over their front garden to convert it into additional parking when planning to 
extend their properties. At the time, a sub strategy had been agreed, however 
instances were still occurring commonly. What was being done to address this issue? 
Officer response – On a small scale this did not cause a significant impact, however, if 
this was happening frequently then the cumulative impact resulted in a large area 
where water would now run off and create surface water flood risk. Where possible, an 
informative was added to planning applications asking that green space be retained 
where possible. In some instances, planning permission was not required for some 
work. Officers were looking at the possibility of a Berkshire wide policy, or a joint 
communications strategy. 

 

 Had ground water levels now risen after a period of lower than average rainfall? 
Officer response – A few years ago there were concerns as the ground water levels 
were low. Over the past couple of years there had been increased rainfall, leading to 
relatively stable water levels. This was subject to the changing weather. 

 

 Thames Water had been brilliant regarding their communications on ongoing works. It 
was noted that making a note of their reference number, and always referring to that 
number allowed all works to be noted down in one central place. 

 

 There had been an issue of flooding for several years in the area of Sandford Lane in 
Woodley, when would this issue be addressed? Officer response – Sandford Lane 
flooded on a regular basis as it crossed two sections of river, causing fluvial flooding. 
One solution to this involved raising the road out of the flood plain, compensating for 
the material being used to raise it out of the flood plain immediately next to the flood 
plain, where there was no suitable location to do so given the amounts of materials 
involved. A much wider natural flood risk management scheme was planned, which 
would hopefully hold back water downstream of the M4 motorway, resulting in water 
being released much slower towards the River Thames, thereby reducing flood risk. 
This scheme would require a significant amount of funding a stakeholder engagement. 
Stakeholder engagement had started positively, and an application had been made to 
DEFRA for their innovative flood resilience fund which, if successful, could be used to 
deliver this scheme. 

 

16



 

 
 

 Was data relating to how many times an asset was visited recorded? Officer response 
– Yes, this was recorded and could be provided to Members on an annual basis. 

 

 Loddon Bridge Road had a number of properties that were at risk of flooding, were any 
works planned to help these properties? Officer response – As these properties were 
close to the River Loddon, they could be at risk of fluvial and surface water flooding. 
Fluvial flooding risk would be reduced by the scheme mentioned above. Significant 
works regarding drainage had been carried out in that area to reduce the risk of 
surface water flooding, and therefore if this was still an issue then officers would take 
this away. 
  

 Was South Lake the responsibility of WBC, and if so were we responsible if it flooded? 
Officer response – South Lake was owned by WBC, however it was not within the 
remit of the officers presenting this report. However, as it was a WBC asset then 
reports and mitigation measures would be in place. 

 

 Members wished to thank officers for the thorough and well-presented report. 
 

 Members wished to thank officers for the works carried out at Egremont Drive. 
 

 There had been hope of other funding sources for the aforementioned major flood risk 
management scheme, had this materialised? Officer response – WBC had made an 
application to Thames Water, and were shortlisted as one of two authorities. Very little 
was then heard for a year and a half, and Thames Water had to significantly reduce 
the number of authorities that they could offer funding, from nine authorities to three. 
As a result, WBC unfortunately did not receive this funding. Officers were hoping to 
hear in April 2021 whether they DEFRA would progress our application to the next 
stage, which would require submission of a business case. Officers were hopeful that 
their feasibility case would help with this application. In addition, Thames Water had 
said that they were impressed with the works carried out within the Borough, and a 
partnership had now been created. There was a minimum of £125,000 available for 
the Borough to carry out surface water schemes. 

 

 How many sandbags did the Borough have available? Officer response – 
Approximately 1500 filled bags and 4000 empty bags which were ready to be filled 
were available. 

 

 Was there a threshold of silt in a gulley that then led to it being cleared? Officer 
response – The percentages were actually in relation to how much of the inlet or outlet 
are covered. If it was over fifty percent, then works would be immediately carried out. 
Currently, when the percentage went above twenty percent, works were being carried 
out. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) Parry Batth and Francesca Hobson be thanked for attending the Committee;  

  
2) Data relating to how often assets were visited be provided to Members on an annual 

basis; 
  

3) Officers and contractors be thanked for their hard work relating to flood risk 
management within the Borough over the last year; 

17



 

 
 

  
4) An update return to the Committee in approximately 12 months’ time. 
 
77. ARTS & CULTURE STRATEGY  
Shirley Boyt declared an interest in this item, and therefore did not participate in the 
discussions. 
 
The Committee received a report, set out in agenda pages 11 to 24, which set out the 
proposed Arts & Culture strategy for the Borough. 
 
The report outlined the consultation that had been undertaken regarding the proposed 
strategy, and the changes that had been made as a result. Some of the changes included 
contextualising the strategy within the frame of the Covid-19 (C-19) pandemic, reference to 
the declared climate emergency including a commitment to ensure that the aspiration to be 
carbon neutral is fully factored in to implementation plans and related activities, and the 
inclusion of one of a desired outcome being that of new and enhanced cultural venues. 
 
Charlotte Haitham Taylor (Executive Member for Regeneration), Grant Thornton (Senior 
Specialist Economic Prosperity & Place), and Robin Cops (Vice Chair of the Arts & Culture 
Alliance) attended the meeting to answer Member queries. 
 
During the ensuing discussions, Members raised the following points and queries: 
 

 Would the northern Parishes be included in the Arts and Cultural Alliance (ACA)? 
Executive Member response – The ACA would welcome the contribution of the 
northern Parishes, as well as all other areas of the Borough. All Town and Parish 
Councils had been contacted as part of the development of the proposed policy, and it 
was hoped that more communities within the Borough would join the ACA as time 
progressed. 
  

 Were we reaching out to people of an older generation? Executive Member response 
– The consultation had seen a far greater response rate from people of an older 
generation rather than those from a younger generation. As such, part of the action 
plan involved reaching out to younger people was seen to be a key action moving 
forward. The action plan had picked up issues including social isolation of older 
people, and therefore aimed to reach out to such individuals. 

 

 It was noted that the ACA really valued the local knowledge from within specific 
communities, and welcomed engagement from across the Borough. 

 

 It was noted that the proposed strategy was a framework, which aimed to identify gaps 
in the current support and provision of arts and cultural events, institutions and 
communities across the Borough.  

 

 Which were the five Town and Parish Councils that had responded to the 
consultation? Officer response – A conclusive list would be provided outside of the 
meeting? 

 

 Winnersh Parish Council would like to be involved in the ACA, was this planned? 
Executive Member response – All Towns and Parishes were welcomed and 
encouraged to get involved, and this included Winnersh. 

 

18



 

 
 

 What considerations and adaptations had been made to the proposed strategy as a 
result of the C-19 pandemic? Executive Member response – Both the strategy and the 
action plan had been adapted throughout the course of the pandemic. Both the 
strategy and the action plan will be reviewed every 6 months during the pandemic and 
recovery stage, and then every year afterwards. 

 

 How was the proposed strategy being prioritised against other WBC services? 
Executive Member response – There were lots of officers working on various aspects 
of the proposed strategy and action plan. The strategy had ties across many WBC 
services including economic development, adult social care, libraries, and children’s 
services. As such, the strategy was not seeking to compete with these services, but 
instead enhance them. 

 

 Where did the ownership of the ACA sit? Executive Member response – The 
document itself was owned by WBC, however this was a true alliance and it was 
therefore a community centric strategy. 

 

 Would the title of the strategy be changed to 2021-2031 as it was a ten year strategy? 
Officer response – Yes, this would be amended. 

 

 What level of support was needed from WBC to support the ACA? Executive Member 
and Vice Chair of the ACA response – The current arts and cultural officer was a major 
start, as it provided a dedicated budget to support the strategy. In addition, there was 
support from various officer across the Council. Both the Council and the working 
group were ambitious, and resource was being pulled from various areas of the 
Council, though it was not specifically allocated. The extra resourcing worked well as it 
benefitted the community in ways including health and wellbeing, whilst progressing 
the ACA and the proposed strategy. 

 

 It was noted that all areas of the Borough should be included within the ACA. 
 

 It was noted that the ACA meant that a programme of ongoing outreach would be 
undertaken. Members were urged to get in touch if they knew of organisations or 
individuals who would like to get involved. It was noted that the Woodley Town Centre 
Management initiative had already been involved. 

 

 All involved were thanked by the Committee for the comprehensive report, and the 
steps made to fulfilling parts of the overarching vision for the Wokingham Town Centre 
regeneration to become a cultural hub. 

 

 What support would arts and cultural organisations require from WBC after the C-19 
pandemic? Executive Member and Vice Chair of the ACA response – Organisations 
wanted a ‘can-do’ attitude from WBC. There had been a good history of tremendous 
support from WBC officers and many Members, and it was hoped that this would 
continue. Any outreach that WBC could offer to involve more young people would be 
greatly appreciated. WBC communications officers, sports and leisure staff, and library 
staff were sued as a resource to help groups and organisations put on events and get 
people involved. The ‘WOCCA’ app was available to help promote events across the 
Borough, and all residents should be encouraged to download it to know what is going 
on in their area and across the whole Borough. 

 

19



 

 
 

 It was noted that a film studio was planned within the Borough, subject to planning 
permission. If approved and built, this would put the Borough on the map as a true hub 
for art and culture. 

 

 The Chairman requested that the proposed strategy and action plan be added to the 
Committee’s work programme on an annual basis, in order to monitor delivery and 
assist in making the Borough a hub for arts and culture. 

 

 The Committee offered their support for the proposed strategy and action plan, and 
thanked all those involved in its development and future implementation. 

 
RESOLVED That: 
 
1) Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Grant Thornton and Robin Cops be thanked for attending 

the Committee; 
  

2) A list of the five Town and Parish Councils that had responded to the consultation be 
provided; 
  

3) The title of the strategy be amended to make reference to 2021-2031;  
  

4) An update be provided to the Committee on an annual basis in order to monitor 
delivery and assist in making the Borough a hub for arts and culture;  
  

5) The strategy be commended to the Executive. 
 
78. UPDATE ON MAY 2021 ELECTIONS  
The Committee received a report, set out in agenda pages 25 to 28, which gave an update 
on the Elections due to be held in May 2021. 
 
The report outlined that the number one priority was to ensure that a safe and secure 
election would be carried out across the Borough. In addition to this, there was a 
commitment to make the count and vote as timely as possible for electors and Members, 
whilst taking the above into consideration. It would therefore be a balance, with a longer 
counting process ensuring the safety of all involved, whilst still being as transparent and 
thorough as ever. Many polling stations would have additional measures in place to ensure 
that they were safe for electors and staff, whilst some venues would have to change to a 
more Covid-19 (C-19) secure venue. 
 
Andre Moulton (Assistant Director – Governance) and Anne Hunter (Lead Specialist, 
Democratic & Electoral Services) attended the meeting to answer Member queries. 
 
During the ensuing discussions, Members raised the following points and queries:  
 

 When would the candidates and agents briefing take place? Officer response – This 
was planned for 9th March 2021 at 6pm. 
  

 Was it planned to write to write to all electors who did not currently have a postal vote 
to inform them of the option to do so? Officer response – Yes, this was in the election 
project plan to set out the choices available to the electorate. 

 

20



 

 
 

 What percentage of the Borough was currently registered to vote by post? Officer 
response – Approximately twenty percent of the Borough was registered to vote by 
post. This was subject to change as we approached the election. 

 

 Would the letter to electors, explaining the options of a postal vote and containing a 
form to apply for one, be sent to people on the current register of electors or the March 
register? Officer response – The letter would be sent to people on the register at the 
time when the letter was finalised. 

 

 What campaigning would be allowed regarding this election? Officer response – Any 
interested groups or persons would be advised to keep close attention to the Electoral 
Commission’s website for any and all advice. 

 

 It was noted that the count would be conducted in stages, to ensure that the numbers 
within the counting area were at safe and C-19 compliant levels. 

 

 Members supported the strategy of informing residents of their options to vote by post, 
as this would be more comfortable and safer for a lot of people this year. 

 

 Were the elections team able to access more support to administer these elections 
safely? Officer response – There was already additional resource within the core team 
to help manage the workload. As a corporate event, the team had support right across 
the Council. 

 

 Were nomination forms be required to be wet signed this year? Officer response – 
Yes, and the candidates and agents briefing would provide additional information 
regarding this. 

 

 It was noted that the count for the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) would not 
be undertaken centrally this year, as it was a decision for the Area Returning Officer as 
to how the count was conducted. 

 

 Was there any ways that schools being used as polling stations could remain open on 
polling day? Officer response – Officers had done a lot of work over recent years to 
reduce the number of schools being used as a polling station, and we were now down 
to four schools across the Borough. Officers were working directly with those four 
schools to see how the impacts of polling day could be mitigated for them. 

 

 Had the role of a teller been considered considering the C-19 pandemic? Officer 
response – Yes, this issue was on the risk assessment list. 

 

 It was noted that Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) were encouraging and 
informing residents about the opportunity to vote by post, and it was definitively not 
about mandating it. Polling stations would be safe and secure, however this gave 
people a further option to cast their vote should they wish. 

 

 The Chairman proposed that a joint meeting of the Community and Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee be arranged in the late 
summer or autumn of 2021, to evaluate lessons learned from the running of this 
election in conjunction with the corporate risk register. 

 
RESOLVED That: 

21



 

 
 

 
1) Andrew Moulton and Anne Hunter be thanked for attending the meeting; 

  
2) The Committee give their thanks to the Elections Team for their ongoing work to 

deliver a safe and transparent set of elections; 
  

3) A joint meeting of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and the Audit Committee be arranged in the late summer or autumn of 2021, to 
evaluate lessons learned from the running of this election in conjunction with the 
corporate risk register. 

 
79. WORK PROGRAMME  
The Committee considered their remaining meeting of the current municipal year, set out 
on agenda page 29. 
 
RESOLVED That the work programme be noted. 
 

22



TITLE Local Fire Service Update 
  
FOR CONSIDERATION BY Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 29 March 2021 
  
WARD None Specific; 
  
LEAD OFFICER Deputy Chief Executive - Graham Ebers 

 

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY 
 
To listen and engage with the Local Fire Service on the specific issues and challenges 
that they are facing and recognising the vital service that they provide to the community. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Following consideration of the update that the Committee:  
 
1) Note the update from the Local Fire Service; 
 
2) Identify areas for question and challenge; 
  
3) Thank the Area Manager and the Central Hub Manager for attending the meeting. 
 

SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
The update from the Area Manager and from the Local Hub Manager aims to provide a 
comprehensive overview of the Service as a whole, as well as identifying the specific 
issues and pressures that the service currently faces. 
 
The presentation slides shall be sent out as “to follow” during the week commencing 22 
March 2021. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

23

Agenda Item 85.



Background 
 
The Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee are encouraged to 
engage with local services, such as the Fire Service, to help understand the challenges 
that they face. The Committee can then engage with the Fire Service in finding solutions 
to these challenges and identify areas where the Council can work more closely with the 
Fire Service to deliver a better service for the Borough’s residents. 
 
Analysis of Issues 
 
The update from the Area Manager and the Central Hub Manager shall provide a 
comprehensive overview of the issues and challenges that the Fire Service faces. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION 
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19 
crisis.  It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the 
vulnerable and on its highest priorities. 
 

 How much will it 
Cost/ (Save) 

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall  

Revenue or 
Capital? 

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1) 

£0 Yes R 

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2) 

£0 Yes R 

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3) 

£0 Yes R 

 

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision 

N/A 

 

Cross-Council Implications  

The Fire Service provides vital support to residents throughout the Borough. 
Establishing positive and longstanding relationships across the Council with the Fire 
Service is key in allowing Wokingham Borough Council to support the valuable work 
that the Fire Service carries out. 

 

Public Sector Equality Duty 

Due regard has been given to WBC’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2 

N/A 

 

List of Background Papers 

None 

 

Contact  Callum Wernham Service  Governance 

 Email  
callum.wernham@wokingham.gov.uk 

 

24


	Agenda
	81. Minutes of Previous Meetings
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	85. Local Fire Service Update

